ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE JUDI Cl ARY STANDI NG COVW TTEE
April 22, 2005
8:44 a. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or Ral ph Seekins, Chair
Senat or Charlie Huggins, Vice Chair
Senator Gene Therriaul t

Senator Hollis French

Senat or Gretchen Quess

MEMBERS ABSENT
Al'l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

CS FOR HOUSE BILL NO 85(JUD)

"An Act relating to self-admnistration and docunentation of
certain types of nedication prescribed to a child attending
school . "

HEARD AND HELD

CS FOR HOUSE BILL NO 88(RLS)

"An Act relating to certain weapons offenses involving mnors;
relating to the definition of 'recreation or youth center' for
purposes of msconduct involving a controlled substance; to
aggravating factors in sentencing for certain offenses commtted
on school grounds, on a school bus, at a school -sponsored event,
or in admnistrative offices of a school district; to mtigating
factors in sentencing for a defendant's assistance to
authorities to detect, apprehend, or prosecute other persons who
commtted an offense; and providing for an effective date.”

HEARD AND HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 85

SHORT TITLE: PRESCRI BED MEDI CATI ON FOR STUDENTS
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) MEYER

01/ 19/ 05 (H READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 19/ 05 (H) HES, JUD

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -1- April 22, 2005



02/ 15/ 05 (H) HES AT 3: 00 PM CAPI TOL 106

02/ 15/ 05 (H) Moved CSHB 85(HES) Qut of Conmittee

02/ 15/ 05 (H) M NUTE( HES)

02/ 18/ 05 (H HES RPT CS(HES) 6DP

02/ 18/ 05 (H) DP: ClI SSNA, GARDNER, ANDERSQN, MCGUI RE,
SEATON, W LSON

02/ 18/ 05 (H FI N REFERRAL ADDED AFTER JUD

03/ 07/ 05 (H) JUD AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

03/ 07/ 05 (H) Moved CSHB 85(JUD) Qut of Conmittee

03/ 07/ 05 (H) M NUTE( JUD)

03/ 09/ 05 (H) JUD RPT CS(JUD) 5DP

03/ 09/ 05 (H DP: GRUENBERG, DAHLSTROM COGHI LL,
GARA, MCGUI RE

03/ 09/ 05 (H) FI N REFERRAL WAl VED

03/ 15/ 05 (H TRANSM TTED TO (S)

03/ 15/ 05 (H) VERSI ON: CSHB 85(JUD)

03/ 16/ 05 (S) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS

03/ 16/ 05 (S) HES, JUD

04/ 04/ 05 (S) HES AT 1: 30 PM BUTROVI CH 205

04/ 04/ 05 (S Moved CSHB 85(JUD) Qut of Commttee

04/ 04/ 05 (S) M NUTE( HES)

04/ 05/ 05 (S) HES RPT 4DP 1NR

04/ 05/ 05 (S) DP: DYSON, GREEN, W LKEN, OLSON

04/ 05/ 05 (S) NR: ELTON

04/ 22/ 05 (S) JUD AT 8: 30 AM BUTROVI CH 205

BILL: HB 88

SHORT TI TLE: CRIM LAW M NORS, SCHOOLS, DRUGS, SENTENCES
SPONSCOR(s) : RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

01/ 19/ 05 (H READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS

01/ 19/ 05 (H) JUD, FIN

01/ 26/ 05 (H JUD AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

01/ 26/ 05 (H -- Meeting Cancel ed --

02/ 02/ 05 (H) JUD AT 1: 00 PM CAPI TOL 120

02/ 02/ 05 (H) <Bi || Hearing Postponed to Fri. 2/4/05>
02/ 04/ 05 (H) JUD AT 1: 00 PM CAPI TOL 120

02/ 04/ 05 (H -- Reschedul ed fromWd. 2/2/05 --
02/ 07/ 05 (H JUD AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

02/ 07/ 05 (H Heard & Held

02/ 07/ 05 (H M NUTE( JUD)

02/ 16/ 05 (H JUD AT 1:00 PM CAPI TOL 120

02/ 16/ 05 (H Moved CSHB 88(JUD) Qut of Committee
02/ 16/ 05 (H M NUTE( JUD)

02/ 18/ 05 (H) JUD RPT CS(JUD) NT 1DP 6NR

02/ 18/ 05 (H DP: GRUENBERG,

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 2- April 22, 2005



02/ 18/ 05 (H NR:  ANDERSON, KOIT, COGH LL, DAHLSTROM
GARA, MCGUI RE

03/ 16/ 05 (H) FIN AT 1: 30 PM HOUSE FI NANCE 519

03/ 16/ 05 (H Bill Postponed To 3/17/05

03/ 17/ 05 (H) FIN AT 1: 30 PM HOUSE FI NANCE 519

03/ 17/ 05 (H) Heard & Hel d

03/ 17/ 05 (H) M NUTE( FI N)

03/ 21/ 05 (H) FIN AT 1: 30 PM HOUSE FI NANCE 519

03/ 21/ 05 (H Moved CSHB 88(FIN) Qut of Commttee

03/ 21/ 05 (H) M NUTE( FI N)

03/ 22/ 05 (H) FIN RPT CS(FIN) NT 8NR

03/ 22/ 05 (H NR  HAWKER, WEYHRAUCH, JOULE, MOSES,
HOLM KELLY, CROFT, STOLTZE

03/ 31/ 05 (H) RLS AT 9: 00 AM FAHRENKAMP 203

03/ 31/ 05 (H Moved CSHB 88(RLS) Qut of Conmittee

03/ 31/ 05 (H) M NUTE( RLS)

04/ 01/ 05 (H) RLS RPT CS(RLS) NT 5DP 1NR

04/ 01/ 05 (H DP. HARRIS, COGH LL, MCGUI RE, KOHRI NG
ROKEBERG,

04/ 01/ 05 (H) NR: BERKOW TZ

04/ 01/ 05 (H) RETURNED TO RLS COWM TTEE

04/ 08/ 05 (H) TRANSM TTED TO (S)

04/ 08/ 05 (H VERSI ON: CSHB 88( RLS)

04/ 11/ 05 (S) READ THE FI RST TI ME - REFERRALS

04/ 11/ 05 (S) JUD, FIN

04/ 22/ 05 (S) JUD AT 8: 30 AM BUTROVI CH 205

W TNESS REG STER

Representati ve Kevin Meyer

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Sponsor of HB 85

M. Mke Pawl owski

Staff to Representative Meyer

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Comented on HB 85

Ms. Patricia Senner, RN

Al aska Nurses Associ ation

2207 East Tudor Rd. Suite 34

Anchorage, AK 99507

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 85

Ms. Marge Larson

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 3- April 22, 2005



American Lung Association of Al aska
POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 85

Ms. Stephanie Birch

Di vision of Public Health (DPH)

Departnent of Health & Social Services

PO Box 110601

Juneau, AK 99801-0601

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 85

Ms. Anne Car peneti

Departnent of Law

PO Box 110300

Juneau, AK 99811-0300

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Commented on HB 88

Ms. Patty Ware, Director

Di vision of Juvenile Justice

Department of Health & Social Services
PO Box 110601

Juneau, AK 99801-0601

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Comented on HB 88

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
CHAIR RALPH SEEKINS <called the Senate Judiciary Standing

Commttee neeting to order at 8:43:33 AM Present were Senators
Hol lis French, Charlie Huggins, and Chair Ral ph Seeki ns.

HB 85- PRESCRI BED MEDI CATI ON FOR STUDENTS

CHAI R RALPH SEEKI NS announced HB 85 to be up for consideration.

8:.43: 33 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KEVIN MEYER introduced HB 85, which proposes to
allow children to carry their own inhalers (conmmonly known as
Epi pen® . Not having their nedication readily available puts
children at risk. Sone children have died because their
medi cation was in the school nurse’'s office. HB 85 would allow a
parent or guardian to sign a release of l|iability provided the
heal t hcare provider submt a witten consent treatnent plan and
certify that the child is capable of using the medication. HB 85
would qualify Alaska for federal grants wunder the Asthmatic
School children’s Treatnent Act of 2004. Thirty-seven states have
passed simlar |egislation. It protects the schools from
liabilities and it would potentially reduce absences.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -4- April 22, 2005



8.46: 17 AM

SENATOR GRETCHEN GUESS asked Representative Meyer to explain why
pharmacist is listed wunder the definition of healthcare
provi der.

REPRESENTATI VE MEYER expl ained the reason is pharmacists often
train children to use their inhalers.

8:49: 03 AM

MR. M KE PAW.OABKI, legislative aide, reiterated Representative
Meyer’s assertion that pharmacists are the ones who teach
children how to use their nedication. The Departnent of Public
Heal th (DPH) supports addi ng pharnaci sts.

SENATOR QUESS asserted HB 85 allows pharnacists to wite a
treatment plan.

CHAIR SEEKINS said he would feel nore confortable if backup
nmedi ci ne was available in the school nurse's office.

REPRESENTATI VE MEYER advised under HB 85 children could still
| eave backup nedication with the nurse.

8:52:42 AM
REPRESENTATI VE MEYER continued famlies couldn’'t always afford
two inhalers so he would be hesitant to require a backup.

8:54: 38 AM
Senator CGene Therriault joined the conmttee.

SENATOR CHARLI E HUGGE NS expressed concern over children passing
their inhal ers around.

REPRESENTATI VE MEYER stated the school would not be |iable.

SENATOR HUGGE NS said he was worried about children causing the
death of other children by sharing inhalers.

REPRESENTATI VE MEYER countered inhalers wouldn’t kill a child
al t hough they m ght nake soneone hyperactive.

8:56: 21 AM
SENATOR HUGE@ NS asked the definition of advanced nur se
practitioner.

SENATOR HOLLIS FRENCH advised all nurse practitioners are
advanced nurse practitioners.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 5- April 22, 2005



CHAIR SEEKINS agreed and stated licensed nurse would be
i ncluded. The difference is a licensed nurse who is not a nurse
practitioner would not be able to prescribe nedications.

SENATOR FRENCH asked M. Pawl owski to explain Epi pen®.

MR. PAW.OWBKI advised it is short for epinephrine injector,
which is a self-adm nistered injection.

SENATOR FRENCH asked whether the use of epinephrine inhalers
anong school chil dren was common.

8:58: 47 AM
CHAI R SEEKINS replied yes. He explained epinephrine is a form of
adr enal i ne.

8:59: 36 AM
SENATOR THERRI AULT asked the recourse if a child lets a friend
take a dose of the nedication.

MR. PAW.OASKI replied discipline according to the school code
woul d govern that situation

9:01: 36 AM
SENATOR THERRI AULT asked the recourse when children pass
i nhal ers around to get each other high.

MR. PAW.ONSKI responded the debate occurred in the House and it
was decided disciplinary action by the schools should be
adequat e.

CHAI R SEEKI NS nentioned a person can buy sone types of inhalers
over the counter and there is no present issue of children
buying inhalers. He asserted it is serious when soneone has an
asthma att ack.

9:03: 35 AM

CHAIR SEEKINS said his only concern was if a student were to
forget to bring their nedication. He prefers to have a backup in
place. He read a statenent from the Al aska Nurses Association
that asked to require a student to have an extra inhaler stored
in the school nurse’'s office.

MR  PAWOWKI comented that was included in Section 5. A

heal thcare provider <could include that stipulation in the
witten treatnent plan

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 6- April 22, 2005



SENATOR FRENCH said it could be included in the 1list under
“doses of nedicati ons needed.”

9:05: 27 AM

SENATOR GUESS advised it would be beneficial to keep the option
so as not to nmandate famlies to always have two inhalers. Sone
famlies may not be able to afford two inhalers.

9:07:40 AM

CHAIR SEEKINS said it is not his intent to put someone who can’t
afford the nedication in risk of violating the |aw. However, a
serious case of asthma needs to be considered.

9: 08: 55 AM

M5. PATRICI A SENNER, nurse practitioner, testified in support of
HB 85. She nmintained school nurses are having trouble wth
managi ng i nhalers. Children often forget them or they run out of
medi cati on. She suggested to stipulate under Section 5 the
heal t hcare provider state what back up i s needed.

9:10: 29 AM

M5. SENNER advised the commttee al buterol inhalers run about
twenty dollars while steroid inhalers run close to one hundred
dol lars. She expressed concern with children carrying Epipens®,
however school nurses report they have not had trouble wth
abuse, although there are instances of sharing. The side effects
of albuterol are mniml unless the person suffers from a heart
condition. The Anchorage school districts do have Epipen®
backups.

9:12: 08 AM

M5. SENNER admitted the Al aska Nurses Association has a problem
with the definition of healthcare provider. The problem wth
addi ng pharmacists is they do not have personal know edge of the
child. She suggested restricting the description of healthcare
provider to those people who legally have the authority to
di agnose and treat.

9:13: 54 AM
M5. SENNER suggested | eaving out |icensed nurse and pharnaci sts.

SENATOR FRENCH asked whether all inhalers have the sanme active
i ngredient.

M5. SENNER replied the nobst common are rescue inhalers, which
contain albuterol. There are a variety of others.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -7- April 22, 2005



SENATOR FRENCH asked which kind would work in an energency
situation.

MS. SENNER st ated al buterol.

SENATOR FRENCH asked the reason children bring inhalers to
school .

MS. SENNER i nformed al buterol is often taken four tinmes per day
and nost other inhalers are twice a day nedi cations.

9:15: 59 AM
SENATOR FRENCH asked what kind of energency inhaler a school
woul d sel ect.

MS. SENNER affirmed it would be al buterol.

SENATOR FRENCH asked the danger from using soneone else's
i nhal er.

M5. SENNER said the main thing would be a contagious disease
t hrough the transfer of gerns.

SENATOR FRENCH asked whether any children have died because of
ast hma attacks.

M5. SENNER replied she is not aware of any.

9:17: 33 AM

M5. STEPHANIE BIRCH, chief of the wonen and children’s health
section, Division of Public Health (DPH), offered support for HB
85 and al so offered to answer questions.

M5. MARGE LARSEN, Anmerican Lung Association of Alaska testified
in support. She remnded the committee not every school in
Al aska has a school nurse. The intent of HB 85 is for school
children have access to their nedication. Mst people who die
from asthma are mld asthmatics who do not manage their asthna.
Rescue nedication is a necessary and critical part of asthmm
managemnent .

9:20: 12 AM

SENATOR GUESS asked the procedure when a school has no school
nur se.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 8- April 22, 2005



M5. LARSON advised the nedications are locked up in the
principal’s office.

The LIO connection was |lost and so Chair Seekins announced a
brief recess at 9:22: 08 AM

Chair Seekins reconvened the neeting at 9:42:27 AM

CHAI R SEEKI NS proposed Amendnent 1.
Page 2, Iline 19 after the word “permtted to” insert
“personally” and following the word “nurse” insert “or
ot her school official”.

Hearing no objections the notion carri ed.

9:44. 15 AM
CHAI R SEEKI NS proposed Anmendment 2.
Page 2, line 25 state “in this section, healthcare provider

nmeans a person with prescriptive authority in this state.”

SENATOR GUESS obj ected for the purpose of discussion. She asked
whet her a village health aide would fall under that definition.

M5. BIRCH said a village health aide has del egated prescriptive

authority. She suggested adding wording on line 26 to state
“Wthin their state regulations.” This would allow for them to
practice within their occupational |icensing regul ations.

CHAI R SEEKI NS said a pharmaci st m ght be the person best capable
of showing the child how to use the inhal er device.

9:49: 48 AM
MR.  PAWOASKI suggested a pharmacist mght attenpt to do
sonet hing outside their authority, such as wite a prescription.

SENATOR GUESS expressed concern the definition of healthcare
provi der is being used as a catchall.

9:51: 36 AM

CHAIR SEEKINS w thdrew Anmendnent 2 and proposed Anendnent 3,
which defines healthcare provider. Hearing no objection, the
notion carri ed.

9:52:32 AM

SENATOR HUGGE NS noved Anendnent 4, which inserts a permssive
requirenent that nedication nust be kept wth a designated
school official. Hearing no objections, the notion carried.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 9- April 22, 2005



9:54:41 AM
SENATOR GUESS inferred the commttee should clarify HB 85 in
regards to public versus private school

MR. PAW.OASKI referred to a legal nmeno included in the packet
dated April 6, 2005 from legislative legal. There is a concern
that the word school is not specific enough. It is problematic
for the state to require a private school to do anything. It is
limted under AS 14.45.100. The sponsor suggested inserting the
word “public” to clarify.

CHAI R SEEKI NS noved Anmendnent 5, insert the word “public.”
SENATOR THERRI AULT obj ected for the purpose of discussion.

9:57:47 AM
SENATOR GUESS noted the drafter mght have had a reason not to
specify public school.

MR PAWOWNKI admtted that was true. The drafter described it
as not expressly necessary.

10: 02: 30 AM

SENATOR THERRI AULT suggested asking the drafters for a neno
clarifying the intent that HB 85 addresses public schools and
not private schools.

10: 05: 11 AM
CHAI R SEEKI NS announced he wanted to be on record that it was
not his intent to force private schools to adhere to HB 85.

10: 06: 38 AM
Amendnent 5 was adopt ed.

CHAI R SEEKI NS announced the commttee would wait for a clean
version of the amended bill before going further.
HB 88- CRIM LAW M NORS, SCHOOLS, DRUGS, SENTENCES

10: 08: 26 AM
CHAI R SEEKI NS announced HB 88 to be up for consideration.

M5. ANNE CARPENETI, Departnent of Law (DOL) introduced HB 88,
which is designed to respond to the problens of violence in
schools and also violence anbng juveniles relating to guns.
Under HB 88 juveniles who are 16 or 17 years old who use guns in
certain circunstances would be automatically waived to adult
court. Those circunstances are; using a gun during a drug felony

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -10- April 22, 2005



crime and drive by shootings. The court nmay mitigate a sentence
for a defendant who has cooperated with the authorities in the
prosecution of the case.

The definition of recreation or youth center has been changed to
add those run by private groups. HB 88 nmkes the aggravating
factor apply to arson (AS 11.46.400) but the commttee would
have to anend it to include a building on school grounds if they
want the arson aggravating factor to stay.

10:12: 51 AM
MS. CARPENETI asserted arson against a school building should be
consi der ed.

10: 13: 06 AM

M5. PATTY WARE, director, division of juvenile justice, (DJJ)
Department of Health and Social Services (DHSS) offered to
answer questions. HB 88 adds offenses for juveniles who are age
16 and older in ternms of them being processed and treated as an
adul t.

CHAI R SEEKI NS said HB 88 sounds strangely famliar.

SENATOR THERRI AULT advised it was simlar to SB 65. He nopved to
Amendnent 1.

Strike Section 1.
Hearing no objections, Anendnment 1 carri ed.

Chair Seekins announced a brief recess at 10:15:37 AM
Chair Seekins reconvened the neeting at 10:19:59 AM

CHAI R SEEKINS and the committee revi ewed CSSB 65(JUD) .

SENATOR FRENCH commented HB 88 focuses on juveniles who perform
adult-type crines.

10: 24: 01 AM

SENATOR FRENCH said HB 88 is the nore likely vehicle to pass
| egislation this term He suggested replacing Section 3 of HB 88
with Section 1 of CSSB 65(JUD).

SENATOR THERRI AULT commented the only difference is the issue of
arson. HB 88 Section 3 added AS 11.46.400, which is problematic.

M5. CARPENETI stated the problemwould be fixed by an anendnent.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -11- April 22, 2005



SENATOR THERRI AULT asked whether the commttee wants to delete
arson or confine it to arson agai nst school buil dings.

SENATOR FRENCH asserted arson against school property was a
problemin his comunity.

10: 25: 08 AM

MS. CARPENETI said in order to leave arson in HB 88 the
commttee would have to Ilimt it to school buildings on schoo
grounds or school busses.

SENATOR FRENCH noved Anmendnent 2.
Strike HB 88 Section 3 and insert CSSB 65(JUD) Section 1.
Hearing no objections, Anendnent 2 was adopt ed.

10: 26: 42 AM
SENATOR FRENCH proposed Anmendnment 3, which adds arson. Hearing
no objections, Amendnent 3 was adopt ed.

10: 29: 07 AM
SENATOR FRENCH asked Ms. Carpeneti whether the DOL supports the
mtigater.

V5. CARPENETI replied yes.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked M. Carpeneti to coment on the
difference in HB 838 and CSSB 65(JUD) in regards to first and
second- degr ee weapon use.

10: 31: 43 AM

M5. CARPENETI said CSSB 65(JUD) included both first and second-
degree m sconduct involving weapons. HB 88 would not waive for
certain behavior, such as possessing a concealed weapon on
school grounds and behavior with discharging of a firearm at or
in the direction of a building wth reckless disregard for
physical injury to a person or a dwelling.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked whether the DOL agreed to the narrow ng
of the statute.

V5. CARPENETI advi sed they spoke against it.
SENATOR THERRI AULT asked the reasoni ng.
M5. WARE interjected to explain the thinking had to do wi th what

Senator French nentioned wearlier - the decision to waive
juveniles into adult court. The discussion centered on the

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -12- April 22, 2005



seriousness of second degree versus first degree and possession
versus actually using a gun during a crinme. In terns of the
nunbers, in a two-year period the DJJ reported 16 juveniles were
charged with m sconduct involving weapons in the first degree
and the second degree. Under the narrower version, the DJJ would
have wai ved five of these juveniles into the adult system Under
the broader definition, all 16 juveniles would have been waived
into adult court.

10: 34: 18 AM
SENATOR GUESS asked Ms. Ware whether the DJJ has the discretion
to waive cases into the adult system

M5. WARE replied they do under the existing statutes any offense
that is deenmed serious enough they connect with the district
attorney’s office and petition the court for a waiver of the
i ndividual into the adult court system

SENATOR FRENCH cl arified HB 88 all owed for an automati c wai ver.

M5. CARPENETI interjected the argunment on the other side is that
an automatic waiver is a serious step, so they decided it best
to best to start wth the first degree offense and later | ook
into second degree.

SENATOR THERRI AULT agreed with the narrower scope.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked for clarification on Section 1,
subparagraph (B). He wondered whether an after school sw m club
at a local gymwould be included.

M5. WARE explained the key word in Section 1, subparagraph (B)
is “licensed”. The DHSS licenses an array of facilities for
shelter services for children. The exanple given would not be
cover ed.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked about a boys and girls cl ub.

M5. WARE responded they were not |icensed.

10: 38: 53 AM
CHAI R SEEKI NS announced the conmmttee would wait for a clean
version of the amended bill before going further.

CHAIR SEEKINS recessed the Senate Standing Judiciary Commttee
until 4 pmApril 23, 2005 at 10:41:51 AM

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -13- April 22, 2005



